
Oregon Racing Commission 

P.O. Box 366 

Gresham, OR 97030 

ORC.info@orc.oregon.gov 

971-673-0213 Fax

www.oregon.gov/racing

COMMISSION MEETING AGENDA 

Thursday April 18, 2024 

1:30 p.m. 

The Oregon Racing Commission will meet at 1:30 pm on Thursday, April 18th, 2024. The 

meeting will be held in person in Room 1A of the Portland State Building located at 800 NE 

Oregon St., Portland, OR 97232 and remotely via Zoom videoconference. You may join the 

meeting by clicking on the link below, or by calling in. Please be aware if you call in, your phone 

number will appear as your ID.  

Topic: Oregon Racing Commission's Zoom Meeting 

Time: April 18, 2024, 01:30 PM Pacific Time (US and Canada) 

Join Meeting: Zoom Link 

If you are unable to access this session through a computer, please dial: 1-253-215-8782 

Meeting ID: 812 0925 2838 

Passcode: 1I8fE3 

A request for an interpreter or other accommodation for persons with disabilities should be 

made at least 48 hours before the meeting to Commission staff at 503-853-5927 or by email at 

ORC.info@orc.oregon.gov. This proposed agenda is subject to last-minute changes without 

prior notice. 

AGENDA ITEMS 

ROLL CALL: 

APPROVALS (need to conduct a vote): 

1) Meeting Agenda

2) February Minutes – Need to vote for official approval from last meeting.

3) March Minutes

OLD BUSINESS: 

4) Director’s Report

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/81209252838?pwd=RSyEpWMMT4Tb9skFk0eH78mwmlJmkD.1


5) ADW Committee Meeting Report

6) Strategic Plan – Continue Review

NEW BUSINESS: 

7) Approve HRA application.

8) Report on Veterinarian Conference – Dr. Tom Everman, DVM

9) Discussion and possible adoption of ORC Slaughter Statement

10) Discussion and possible approval to begin the rulemaking process of 462-220-0010 –

Definitions – Amendment Affiliate

11) Discussion and possible adoption of 462-150-0060 (k) – Plate Amendment (with changes)

PUBLIC COMMENT: 

CONTESTED CASES: 

None  

CONFIRMATION OF NEXT COMMISSION MEETING:  

The next commission meeting is scheduled for May 16th, 2024, at 1:30 P.M. via ZOOM. 

ADJOURNMENT: 

Movement to adjourn. 

At any time during the public session, the Commission may go into executive session to consider 

information or records exempt from disclosure pursuant to ORS 192.660(2)(f), ORS 192.345(2), 

OAR 462-220-0070 regarding trade secrets; and/or ORS 192.660(2) (f) and ORS 192.355(9) to 

consult with counsel concerning written legal advice; and/or ORS 192.660(2)(h) to discuss its 

legal rights and duties regarding current litigation, or litigation likely to be filed. The 

Commission may also elect to deliberate on pending contested cases pursuant to ORS 

192.690(1). Additional items may be placed on the agenda after the general mailing of the 

agenda. Calls may be made to the Commission office the week of the meeting to inquire about 

additions. 



Oregon Racing Commission 

P.O. Box 366 

Gresham, OR 97030 

ORC.info@orc.oregon.gov 

971-673-0213 Fax

www.oregon.gov/racing

Minutes 

Oregon Racing Commission 

March 21, 2024  

Meeting Detail 

The Oregon Racing Commission (ORC) met at 1:30 p.m. Thursday, March 21st, 2024, via Zoom 

videoconference.  

Call to Order and Roll Call 

Chair Margaret Doherty called the meeting to order at 1:32 p.m. and Karen Parkman conducted 

roll call. 

In Attendance 

Commissioners: Margaret Doherty, Diego Conde, and Quinn Berry. 

Staff: Executive Director Connie Winn; Karen Parkman, Program and Administrative 

Coordinator; Kelly Routt, Assistant Attorney General (AAG) 

Excused 

Commissioner Lindsay Fowler 

Absent 

Commissioner Scott Beckstead 

Approvals: 

Meeting Agenda 

Action: Approval of the March agenda with a spelling correction to Micah Lloyd’s name. 

Approved by Chair Doherty. A formal vote was not conducted. 

Meeting Minutes 

Action: Approval of the February minutes. 

Approved by Chair Doherty as there were no comments. A formal vote was not 

conducted. 



 

 

 

OLD BUSINESS:  

Executive Director’s report   

Executive Director Winn reported that the deadline for the Statement of Economic Interest (SEI) 

Report, which is required by the Oregon Ethic’s Commission, is due on April 15th, 2024. All 

commissioners should have received correspondence for the matter. Director Winn reported that 

no legislation was passed during the 2024 short session that would negatively impact operations 

of the ORC. Preparations are already being made for the 2025 session. Two positions are currently 

in the process of being filled within the ORC. Former Chief Investigator Chris Adams has resigned 

to pursue a law degree and the ORC wishes him the best, and several qualified candidates have 

applied. The position should be filled by the end of the month. She thanked investigator Mike 

Gentile for stepping into the position in the interim. The second position is a test barn worker. Due 

to relocation constraints, former test barn worker Michelle Shirey is unable to continue in the 

position. She will be sincerely missed. There are several candidates under consideration for this 

position as well.  

 

Director Winn reminded that the April ORC meeting will be held in person in Portland, OR. Lastly, 

effective July 1, 2024, the ORC will be transitioning to Microsoft Teams for all meetings. Teams 

offers more compatibility with current technology and increased features compared to Zoom. A 

download link for the software has been added to the ORC homepage. 

 

Budget Committee Report 

Chair Doherty reported that the committee met to look over the current budget forecast and 

legislative impact. She reported that greyhound racing was not banned, however the ORC will not 

retain the 25% that is currently paid to the general fund. One ADW has departed from the ORC, 

which is approximately a $40,000 loss, but the others remain stable. As it is the beginning of the 

2-year biennium, no budget cuts are required currently, however consideration for the 2025 long 

session is paramount.  

 

There was a hub fund request from the Oregon Quarter Horse Racing Association (OQHRA). 

While the commission is thankful to the OQHRA for their support, and recognizes how important 

their contribution is, it was decided it would be unwise to release addition funds without knowing 

the full financial impact of losing an ADW and the upcoming long session.  

 

Best Practices and Strategic Planning (BPSP) Committee Report 

In Commissioner Beckstead’s absence, Director Winn reported that the BPSP committee met to 

discuss aftercare for equine athletes. It was decided this is an issue the ORC cannot have direct 



involvement with but can support efforts made by individuals and associations who have an 

interest. The committee also reviewed and discussed the ORC Strategic Plan. 

 

 

Further Discussion on Rule Amendments: 

A. OAR 462-160-0130 – Medications and Prohibited Substances 

Director Winn reported that a one-page summary of changes and the recommendations was 

created and is included in the meeting packet. The ORC reached out to other Veterinarians, 

including former commissioner Palmer. It is felt that it is too close to the Spring race season 

to make changes to the rule on Bute. However, Dr. Everman has ideas to communicate an 

upcoming change to the horsemen over the summer for potential implementation for the fall. 

The ORC recommends changing the minimum time Lasix can be given prior to racing from 4 

hours to 3 hours. This change will increase the effectiveness of the drug during the races and 

may decrease needed doses. The ORC also recommends changing the maximum allowed dose 

of Lasix to 300mg/ml.  

 

Dr. Everman reported that no changes should be made concerning the fair meets, as fair 

personnel are not always available to communicate changes to. He stated that after the fair 

meets is a good time to communicate to the trainers and horsemen that an upcoming rule 

change is coming, either for the fall commercial meet, or beginning by the 2025 race season. 

In either case, consultations will continue, and ample time will be provided to communicate 

upcoming changes in person and on the ORC website. These changes will align the ORC closer 

to surrounding jurisdictions. Dr. Everman also reported he had recently attended the regulatory 

veterinarian meeting in Santa Anita, and that he learned that 61 Thoroughbred tracks exist in 

the U.S. and 55 of the 61 are HISA accredited. Therefore, Oregon is a select group and needs 

to keep in mind how rules can be made to be similar to them even if Oregon remains outside 

HISA.  

 

Director Winn clarified that the Lasix change could occur now, but that the changes to Bute 

should wait. Dr. Everman confirmed that statement.  

 

Director Winn reminded Chair Doherty that the commission would wait to take public 

comment until the end of the meeting, unless she chose otherwise, which Director Winn did 

not advise doing at this time based on the amount of public comment the commission had 

already received on this issue.  

 

Chair Doherty asked for clarity, stating the recommendation in the packet was to educate the 

horsemen/women over the summer/fall meet, run quantitative analysis on the horses, and file 

rules after the fall race meet in October as a rule change now would be untimely. Director 

Winn replied that the Bute rule should be filed in October, but since Lasix is administered by 



the attending veterinarian an advanced notice was not necessary. Dr. Everman added that the 

change to the Lasix rule doesn’t really impact current practices other than allowing 

administration closer to the race time, which gives the attending vet a larger window to 

administer it. When he looked over the Lasix programs from the administering vets, he only 

saw one horse receiving more than 300 mg, which was 350 mg (7 cc), so the dosage change is 

not a functional change for the vets or horses. He clarified the horses must get at least 150 mg 

(3 cc) to be detectable, and the maximum will now be 300mg (6 cc), so the window is smaller, 

but already being implemented.  

 

Director Winn asked Dr. Everman to talk about testing offered for the summer and clarified to 

Chair Doherty that a motion would be required to go forward with the rule making process for 

Lasix. Commissioner Conde stated he agreed with the timing change, which is consistent with 

the peer reviewed literature he has read but was confused about the dosage. He asked for clarity 

about 300 mg versus 3cc’s which are not the same, and wanted to know what was allowed. Dr. 

Everman clarified that there are several formulations of Furosemide (Lasix), but the 

commercially available one is 50 mg/cc. The minimum dosage for reliable laboratory detection 

is 150 mg. If a person claims a horse has received the medication, the laboratory must be able 

to detect it. The maximum dosage allowed will be 300 mg, or 6 cc’s. Dr. Everman stated that 

the attending vets wrote the administered doses in their programs as cc’s rather than 

milligrams, however because other concentrations exist or can be created, it is import for the 

rule to clarify milligrams (amount of actual drug received) rather than relying on cc’s (cubic 

centimeter; the volume of drug measured for administration) always being consistent. 

Commissioner Conde thanked Dr. Everman for the clarification and he feels surer about the 

change.  

 

Action: Approval to begin the rule making process for the amendment to the Lasix rule.  

Moved by: Commissioner Berry 

Seconded: Commissioner Conde 

Vote: Commissioners Doherty, Conde, and Berry voted AYE, and the motion was carried 

unanimously (3:0). 

  

  

NEW BUSINESS: 

Review and discuss approval of the ORC Strategic Plan 

Chair Doherty asked that because two commissioners are absent, she would like further discussion 

of the Strategic Plan in April.  

 

Director Winn presented the Strategic Plan reporting that the plan will need to be approved by 

April, as it must be included in the budget packet. Director Winn recommended discussing the 

smart goals section during the April meeting. She reported there has been a lot of feedback from 



industry partners, committees, other government agencies, the ORC’s I.T. unit, and the horseman 

groups. Attempts were made to consult the tribes, but no feedback was received. She thanked 

everyone who took the time to comment and the staff who worked on it. She reminded the 

commissioners that as a regulatory body, there must be a degree of separation from the industry 

before reading the vision statemen (included in the meeting packet). Commissioner Conde agreed 

with the vision statement. She then read the agency mission statement. There were no questions. 

Commissioner Berry stated that he reviewed the document and was very happy with it. Director 

Winn covered the agency’s core values.  

 

Commissioner Conde asked for certainty that tribal communication policies are being followed 

and that receipts are being kept showing communication was attempted. Micah Lloyd, the agency 

Tribal Liaison responded that he reached out to the governing agency for government-to-tribes 

communication and received updated instructions on tribal communication which he followed. 

These instructions included who to contact, who to cc, etc. and he has kept all the receipts. 

 

Commissioner Berry stated he appreciated the values, though he might add “fun” as a value if 

appropriate.  

 

Chair Doherty commented that she appreciated the Strategic Plan, and especially liked that 

transparency and communication are core values.  

 

Spring Meeting Report – Micah Lloyd 

Micah Lloyd reported that he attended the Association of Racing Commissioners International 

(ARCI) annual conference in Columbus, Ohio March 6-8th. The meetings were well attended and 

there were several key takeaways.  

 

The American Quarter Horse Racing committee (AQHR) presented their proposed rule regarding 

toe grabs, a rule currently undergoing changes by the ORC. They polled other jurisdictions and 

tracks, including Oregon, and came to the recommendation that front toe grabs should be shorter 

than rears, but were less restrictive than the new proposal for Oregon, which is restricted to 2mm 

in the front and 4mm in the rear. Effective January 1, 2024 the AQHA has begun enforcing the use 

of microchips to identify racing Quarter Horses instead of tattoos.  

 

The Safe Horses First briefing included a presentation on animal welfare, current research, and 

industry challenges. Their focus is on new technology, specifically proposals for wearable 

protection devices that may detect problems with the equine athletes when they occur. 

Representatives from Standardbred, Thoroughbred, and Quarter Horse aftercare organizations 

shared inspiring stories about post racing careers for equine athletes and initiatives and 

commitments to ensure successful transitions post racing. A representative from the National 



Thoroughbred Alliance (NTA) shared their goal of further engaging owners and trainers rather 

than regulators.  

The ARCI Rules Committee meeting discussed a modification to the Steward Accreditation Rule, 

expanding it to allow for an ARCI approved accreditation program in addition to the Racing 

Officials Accreditation Program (ROAP). The current ORC rule states that the steward “may be” 

required to be accredited and current with ROAP. 

 

The Racing Integrity and Investigations Committee was a source of information from other 

jurisdictions regarding tip lines. Mr. Lloyd took notes on how anonymous reporting with freedom 

of information and public records requests are handled and learned vendor options to follow up 

on.  

 

A panel on the Marriage of Horse Racing and Sports Betting provided useful information regarding 

auditing for the ADW’s, which have expressed interest in wallet integrations either with parent 

companies or third-party agreements. Ensuring ORC auditing requirements are met is paramount.  

 

The Drug Testing Standards and Practices Committee discussed environmental contamination, 

namely trace contaminations from humans and how additional testing of barn and racing staff may 

be necessary to find sources. This is regarding someone touching a horse after doing drugs 

themselves, which may be detected by the lab in post-race testing.  

 

Mr. Lloyd reported that the commissioners from the Indianna Horse Racing Association came to 

him to extend him their gratitude for how the ORC continues to monitor and regulate the ADW’s 

who hold primary licenses in Oregon.  

 

Commissioner Conde stated that following the information Mr. Lloyd gathered in the meeting that 

a future ADW committee meeting may be appropriate. He asked if Mr. Lloyd could have a full 

report and recommendations by April or if it should be tabled for May. Mr. Lloyd responded that 

he could have that together for an April meeting. Director Winn agreed and stated a report on the 

annual review could be done then as well.  

 

Chair Doherty thanked Mr. Lloyd for his report and agreed that an April ADW meeting would be 

a good idea.  

 

Request permission to begin the rule making process for the following rule filings: 

A. 462-210-0040 (1) – Amends funding 

B. 462-160-0150 – Necropsy 

Director Winn reported that there was a lot of industry feedback on the necropsy rule, and this 

should work for all. She thanked the industry and Dr. Lombard for their assistance, and Dr. 

Everman for taking the lead on it. The other rule requires ADW’s so request permission before 



changing any funding operations, which is already assumed under their plan of operations, but 

should be formally made into rule for clarification. There is no need for a hearing on the funding 

rule, but a hearing on the necropsy rule should be conducted.  

 

Action: Approve beginning the rule making process for 462-210-0040 (1) and 462-160-

0150. 

Moved by: Commissioner Berry 

Seconded: Commissioner Conde 

Vote: Commissioners Doherty, Conde, and Berry voted AYE, and the motion was carried 

unanimously (3:0). 

 

Discussion and possible adoption of the proposed rule filings:  

A. 462-150-0060 (k) – Plate Amendment 

Director Winn reported that the attorney reported the letter k was missing to one part and 

was added. A minor language change for clarification was made. The final language states, 

“Racing plates must be a type and design approved by the board of stewards and the 

commission veterinarian. No traction devices are allowed on the forelimbs other than mud 

nails or toe grabs measuring 2mm or less. Toe grabs in the hind limbs shall not exceed 

4mm. Traction devices include but are not limited to bends, jars, cocks, and stickers.” 

 

B. 462-140-0250 (a) – Starting Gate 

Director Winn reported there was no public comment prior to the hearing. A minor 

language change was made to clarify the use of the tail bar and now reads, “The starter 

shall ensure all assistants are properly trained in the safe and appropriate handling of horses 

including but not limited to; leading, packing, heading, and tailing procedures. The starter 

shall also ensure the use of tailing bars for wrapping tails (if equipped) is strictly 

prohibited.”  

 

C. 462-160-0110 (6) – Intra Articular Injections 

Director Winn reported there were no comments or additional requests. This rule was filed 

a while ago and changes the restriction to 30 days prior to a race.  

 

D. 462-160-1120 (3) (a) – Shock Wave Therapy 

Director Winn reported this rule changes the restriction from 10 days to 30 days prior to 

racing. There was no comment or changes prior to the hearing.  

  

E. 462-220-0020 – Geo Location  

Director Winn reported there were a couple of minor requests. The first was to remove the 

word “and” and add “or”, to remove “geo location”, which is very specific, and replace it 



with “technology” or “methodology” and add the words “confirms the wages are placed 

from jurisdictions”.   

 

F. 462-160-0140 – Testing Amendment  

Director Winn reported that there was an extra period that needed to be removed.  

 

Commissioner Berry reported that he feels the staff have written sensible and 

uncontroversial language and that there was no public comment during any of the hearings.  

 

Commissioner Conde commented that he supports the rules and is glad there wasn’t any 

push back. He did notice that and cautions the commission regarding the shock wave rule 

that one reason for adopting this rule was communicated to be alignment with HISA. He 

expressed admiration for the spirit and intention of HISA, but he feels that HISA’s 

implementation in abhorrent and a threat to horse racing. His issue is not with what they 

want to do, but how they are doing it. He strongly urges the commission against stating to 

be with HISA in any way as regulatory changes and attacks on HISA are seen daily in the 

courts. From a legal standpoint, he wants it to be in the record that commission is not 

adopting the policy of simply mirroring HISA or coming into alignment with HISA, but 

rather if they have a good rule the ORC will adopt it because it is a good rule.  

 

Chair Doherty appreciated commissioner Conde’s comment. Rod Lowe added that he 

would like to add on the plate amendment that in light of the report Micah gave on the 

AQHR plate rule changes which are not in alignment with the ORC recommendations, if 

there was consideration to have a separate recommendation for Quarter Horses. Director 

Winn responded that as the comment period has ended it may not be appropriate to discuss 

it any further. Kelly Routt, DOJ, responded that ultimately it is up to the commission to 

take further comment and put into the rule making period. Director Winn added that this 

was not the time for public comment, and he had been called on when others had been 

passed over prior in the report. That said, she felt steward Mike Twiggs did a very good 

job with this rule and she feels good about it and that Indianna, which also runs Quarter 

Horses, has an almost identical rule. She asked Micah if he had any additions from the 

meeting and stated that it could be held off for another month, but she was not aware of 

anyone using higher toe grabs that would necessitate further change. She asked Dave and 

Leah Nelson if they were aware of any since public comment had been opened. Rod Lowe 

added he just came from a Quarter Horse conference and the issue seems to be relevant if 

AQHA is holding a different standard. Chair Doherty called on Micah Lloyd. Mr. Lloyd 

stated that his notes stated that after polling different jurisdictions the recommendation was 

that Quarter Horse toe grabs on front shoes should not exceed 4mm and hind shoe toe grabs 

should not exceed ¼ of an inch. They did not they would change inches to mm in the final 



language for consistency, but he believed ¼ of an inch to be about 6mm. Chair Doherty 

recommended holding this rule until April for further review.  

 

Action: Approve the adoption of the above rules, excluding 462-150-0060 (k). 

Moved by: Commissioner Conde 

Seconded: Commissioner Berry 

Vote: Commissioners Doherty, Conde, and Berry voted AYE, and the motion was carried 

unanimously (3:0). 

 

PUBLIC COMMENT: 

Dr. Alice Lombard, DVM, thanked all those who worked on the medication rules. She emphasized 

that not only should the horsemen/women receive education on medication changes, but also the 

attending and treating vets as they are the ones administering a lot of the medications and the go 

to for the horsemen for information and not all are racetrack vets normally. 

 

Leah Nelson commented that she, Dave Nelson, and Rod Lowe all attended the AQHA annual 

meeting last week. The microchipping of horses is a big thing, and they are actively working to 

get horses microchipped before the races in Union. She wanted the commission to also know that 

the funding request wasn’t really a hub fund request, but a back fill that could probably be sourced 

from other funds than hub funds.  

 

Dave Nelson commented that he agrees with Dr. Lombard regarding the medication rules. He also 

urges the commission to be very attentive to changes ARCI are actively making and not to get too 

far ahead or behind them. Regarding toe grabs, he commented that they are more of a black art 

than a science and that there were studies regarding plate vibrations and breakdowns. He stated 

that track conditions and footing type also play a big role in toe grab types so further research may 

be needed into that.  

 

CONTESTED CASES: 

None. 

 

CONFIRMATION OF NEXT COMMISSION MEETING:   

The next commission meeting is scheduled for April 18th, 2024, at 1:30 P.M. in person in Room 

1A of the Portland State Building located at 800 NE Oregon St., Portland, OR 97232 and remotely 

via Zoom. 

 

ADJOURNMENT: 

There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 2:32 p.m. 

 

 

 



1  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                       Background information on methodology to engage interested parties: 

                       Creation of the ORC Strategic Plan was developed through engagement with multiple external interested parties. 

                       These include, but are not limited to: Industry associations, other interested associations, other government  

                       entities, tribal leaders and their communities, licensees, and professional associations.     

 

VISION, MISSION, AND VALUES & EQUITY STATEMENT 

 
 

 
VISION: 

 

The Oregon Racing Commission is the go-to source for industry-respected regulations, customer focused processes,  athlete safety 
and welfare and empowered excellence in racing. 

MISSION: 

The Oregon Racing Commission is dedicated to promoting the highest standards of safety and integrity within the                       
equine racing industry, both on-ground and online. Our mission is to safeguard the welfare of athletes, both human                         
and equine, with a steadfast commitment to the best interests of our citizenry, licensees, participants, and the economy. 
 
VALUES: 
 
To fulfill our mission, and with an emphasis on technology-driven solutions, we aim to: 
 
Welfare, Health, and Safety:  
Prioritizing the health, safety, and well-being of our equine and human athletes through strict regulations and training,                 
while promoting equine care and retirement by encouraging partnerships with the equine industry. Advocating the safety and 
wellbeing of all other participants and aspects of the      
racing industry.  

 
Public confidence:  
Building and maintaining public confidence in the integrity and credibility of the horse racing industry. 

          
Integrity:  
Provide fair, neutral, impartial regulatory treatment of licensees. Ensuring the honesty and fairness of all participants,            
including trainers, jockeys, licensees, owners, and officials, ensuring equal opportunities for all.  
          
Regulatory Excellence:  
Ensuring strict adherence by establishing rules and regulations and taking appropriate action against industry violations.                         
Continuing to hold primacy of online wagering licensing within the horse racing industry by providing a comprehensive        
regulatory framework and promoting innovation in a business-friendly environment.   

        

 

 

         Oregon Racing Commission Strategic Plan 



2  

 
Transparency:  
Providing clear and open communication about rules, regulations, financial integrity, and decision-making processes.  

 
Support the Economy: 
By regulating and promoting pari-mutuel wagering, we stimulate economic growth,  creating  jobs and opportunities that          
benefit both the racing industry and the wider Oregon community.   
 
Customer Service: 
We believe that customer service is not just a department, but a culture. We strive to provide quick, easy, personalized, and 
empathetic service to every customer, every time. We listen to our customers, understand their needs, and offer solutions that  
work for them. We treat our customers with respect, honesty, and kindness. We are always looking for ways to improve our  
service and exceed our customers’ expectations. 
 
History:       

                                The Oregon Racing Commission is committed to the long-standing tradition of horse racing and recognizes that it is a    
                                Important component  of our state’s history.        
 
  EQUITY STATEMENT:   
  The Oregon Racing Commission follows and supports the  Governor’s Office of Diversity and Inclusion/ 

Affirmative Action meeting discussions.  As a result, the ORC has confirmed its alignment to intentionally diversify our      
workforce, operations, and perspectives.   

 
The ORC promotes a culture that fosters and embeds diversity and inclusion throughout its operations, both internally          
with staff and externally with members of the public, interested parties and/or partners by increasing diverse and         
multi-cultural perspectives, improving business and service delivery outcomes, increasing certified firm contracting                
inclusion, improving individual and organizational cultural competences, and improving organizational accountability. SET GOALS 
AND OBJECTIVES 

 
 

 
 
 
 

S.M.A.R.T Description 

Specific What do you want to achieve? What is the outcome you are wanting? 

Measurable How will you know the goal has been achieved? How will you measure 
progress? 

Achievable How can we accomplish the goal? What steps or tasks are needed to 
achieve the goal? 

Relevant Does this goal align with agency strategies? Is this the right time? 

Time-Bound What is the timeframe to achieve the goal? What is the completion 
date? 

 
 
 



3  

 

Goal #1: Promote live racing in Oregon to enhance all aspects of the horse racing industry in support of a strong Oregon economy.  
 

Outcome(s): 

• Monitor and encourage economic growth. 

o  

• Support the rural county fair meets. 

o  

• Advocate horse racing attributes and benefits to the public. 

• Continue to ensure excellent customer service is a priority for all staff.   
 

Goal #2: Ensure the safety and security of humans, equine, wagering community and property. 
 

Outcome(s):  

• Improve and promote the safety of our equine and human athletes. 

• Require our licensees to increase monitoring, awareness of avenues, and resources for  

responsible wagering. 

Provide and enforce policies and procedures regarding the safety of the athletes, participants,      

licensees, and staff. 

• Provide opportunities for staff to continue learning and researching the latest industry  

safety standards. 

• Develop relationships with industry experts to maintain alignment with best practices. 
 

Goal #3:  Continue to be the leader in licensing and regulating Advance Deposit Wagering (ADW) companies. 
 

Outcome(s): 

• Provide a rigorous regulatory framework. 

• Ensure business friendly practices with open communication across all industry partners.  

• Continue to be the recognized go-to regulator for all ADW regulatory issues. 

• Facilitate collaborative opportunities for licensees.  
 

Goal #4: Forward thinking and technologically savvy. 
 

Outcome(s): 

• Stay up to date on trends and changes in technology. 

• Be open to exploring new ideas and business opportunities. 

• Ensure that the public faith in the technology we license is sound. 
 

Goal #5: Increase transparency and access to information. 
 

Outcome(s): 

• Provide continual training to commissioners and staff on the requirements around transparency .  

• Provide opportunities for engagement with the public. 

• Regularly meet with interested parties such as legislators, tribes, and associations to  

educate them and elicit feedback on our operations. 



4  

• Provide extensive resources, research, and historical data on our website, for interested  

parties and industry associates. 

 



5  

1. DEVELOP STRATEGIES 

 
Determine the best course of action to achieve your goals and objectives. 

   
   
 

Description 

Project #1 

Assist with the passage of statutes that will promote the horse racing industry and rural economic growth.  

Project #2 

Align  our rules and policies with the latest science, research, and industry recommendations as it pertains to safety 
and welfare of our athletes..  

Project #3 

Orchestrate the coordination of shared data resources.  

Project #4 

Modernization of the ORC licensing database. 

Project #5 

Complete revamp of our website. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

2. CREATE AN ACTION PLAN 

 
Develop an action plan that outlines the specific steps you will take to implement your strategies. 

 
 
 
 

Description Start Date End Date Duration 

Project #1 

Assist with the passage of statutes that will 
promote the horse racing industry and rural 

 3/2025 6/2025  15 months 



6  

economic growth.  

Project #2 

Align  our rules and policies with the latest 
science, research, and industry recommendations 
as it pertains to the safety and welfare of our 
athletes.  

 10/2023  Ongoing. 

Project #3 

Orchestrate the coordination of shared data 
resources.  

2023 2025 2 years 

Project #4 

Modernization of the ORC licensing database. 

7/2022 6/2025 4 years 

Project #5 

Complete revamp of our website. 

 

2/2024 2/2026 2 years 

 
 
 

 

3. ALLOCATE RESOURCES 

 
Determine the resources, including financial, human, and technological, required to implement your action plan. 

Project 1: No additional resources needed.  This will be managed by the Director. 

Project 2: No additional resources needed.  This will be managed by ORC staff and industry contacts. 

Additional training for staff may be necessary and training is already in the ORC budget.   

Project 3: No additional resources needed.  This will be managed by the Director of Mutuels.   

Project 4: Approximate five-year estimate is $300,000.00. The vast majority of integration and 
implementation will be absorbed by existing staff. Additional staff may be needed on a short-term 
contract basis for data entry.  This is not expected to exceed $2,000.00. 

Project 5: Minimal additional resources will be needed.  We anticipate getting a tutorial for under 
$2,000.00 which the agency can absorb.  

 
 
 

4. MONITOR AND EVALUATE 

 
Determine how you will continuously monitor your progress and evaluate the effectiveness of your strategies to determine if 

they need to be adjusted. 

 

 
   



7  

 

Project Actions & Reviews 

Project #1 

Assist with the passage of statutes that will 
promote the horse racing industry and rural 
economic growth.  

  Regular meetings with interested parties, including but not limited to:  

       Industry and other Interested Associations. 

       Legislators 

       Governor’s office 

       Tribes 

       Rural Communities 

  Internal quarterly reviews on progress and future actions.       

 

Project #2 

Align our rules and policies with the latest 
science, research, and industry recommendations 
as it pertains to the safety and welfare of our 
athletes.  

 

ORC will continue to seek additional training and research to stay 

informed of the latest science, research, and industry recommendations.  

Internal quarterly reviews on progress and future actions.       

Project #3 

Orchestrate the coordination of shared data 
resources. 

Coordinate with licensees to assist with the development of shared 

resources. 

Internal quarterly reviews on progress and future actions.    

Project #4 

Modernization of the ORC licensing database. 

Weekly reviews with Procurement until a contract have been signed. 

As a minimum, monthly meetings with the EIS Management team. 

Internal monthly reviews on progress and future actions.    

Upon execution of the contract, weekly reviews until database is 

launched. 

Project #5 

Complete revamp of our website. 

 

Identify the short- and long-term goals no later than December of 2024. 

1. Educational Resources and Training Opportunities  

2. Informational: all topics related to information.  

3. Regulatory: Licensing, Rules and Statutes, FAQ, Public Records, 

Legislative Bills  

4. ADW/Mutuels and Reports 

5. Medication/Safety 

6. News 

7. Tribal Information 

8. Historical 

Staff Training – SharePoint  Identify internal resources by Summer 2024. 

Internal quarterly reviews on progress and future actions.    

 

 































































Oregon Racing Commission 
P.O. Box 366 

Gresham, OR 97030 

      Fax 971-673-0213 

      https://www.oregon.gov/racing 

 

 

 

 

The mission of the Oregon Racing Commission is to regulate and facilitate all aspects of the pari-
mutuel industry in the State of Oregon for the benefit of the citizenry, the licensees, the participants, 

and the economy. 
  

 
 

The Oregon Racing Commission is committed to upholding the highest standards of equine welfare 

and ethical treatment within the racing industry. As such, we oppose and condemn the practice of 

slaughter for any purpose, especially the disposal of retired or injured racehorses. We believe in 

promoting responsible ownership, facilitating avenues for rehoming and retirement, and 

supporting initiatives that ensure every equine athlete receives dignified care throughout their lives. 

We pledge to work tirelessly to enforce regulations that safeguard the well-being of all horses 

involved in racing, and we urge all stakeholders within the industry to join us in this crucial 

endeavor. 

  

 

 



462-220-0010 

Definitions 

(1) A multi-jurisdictional simulcasting and interactive wagering totalizator hub is a business that, through 

a qualified subscriber based subscriber-based service, conducts pari-mutuel wagering on the races that 

it simulcasts and other races that it carries in its wagering menu. The term "advance deposit wagering 

licensee”, “ADW”, or “hub" will be used in these rules to refer to the multi-jurisdictional simulcasting and 

interactive wagering totalizator hub. 

(2) The terms "qualified subscriber based subscriber-based service" and "closed-loop subscriber based 

subscriber-based system" shall mean any information service or system that uses: 

(a) A device or combination of devices authorized and operated for placing, receiving, or otherwise 

making a wager and by which a person must subscribe in order to be able to place, receive, or otherwise 

make a bet or wager; 

(b) An effective customer verification and age verification system; and 

(c) Appropriate data security standards to prevent unauthorized access by any person who has not 

subscribed or who is a minor. 

(3) “Affiliate” refers to a third-party entity that rebrands or markets a licensed product or service. 

(34) "Foreign jurisdiction" means a jurisdiction of a foreign country or political subdivision thereof. 

(45) Handicapping contests, also known as tournaments, may include but are not limited to competitions 

whereby players compete amongst each other in multi-race events from amongst predetermined live 

races at a licensee’s racecourse or simulcast races offered by the licensee, or any combination. 

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 462.270(3) & 462.725 

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 462.725 

Reason for rule: Corrects typo’s and defines affiliates.  

Fiscal impact:  No 

Advisory Committee: No 

Hearing: No 

 



462-150-0060 

Weighing Out; Equipment; Paddock Procedures 

(1) All jockeys in a race must be weighed out by the clerk of scales prior to going to the paddock for that 

race. 

(2) If overweight is in excess of the weight the horse is to carry, the jockey shall declare the amount of 

overweight to the clerk of scales at least one hour before post time of the first race of the day, and the 

clerk of scales shall have the overweight announced immediately. 

(3) Seven pounds is the maximum overweight any horse may carry unless waived by the board of 

stewards. 

(4) A jockey's weight shall include the running equipment for the mount, including saddle with 

attachments and clothing, but shall not include the riding crop, helmet, safety vest or the horse's bridle. 

(5) The trainer shall be responsible for the weight assigned to be carried by the horse. If the jockey 

scheduled to ride the horse is more than two pounds overweight, the jockey may be replaced by the 

owner or trainer without any liability for a mount fee to the overweight jockey if replaced with a rider of 

less weight. 

(6) No jockey shall be weighed out for any race unless the jockey's fee for a losing mount in the race has 

been deposited or guaranteed to the paymaster of purses. Failure to deposit or guarantee the fee for the 

engaged jockey may result in an involuntary scratch of the horse the jockey was to ride. 

(7) The only attendants who will be permitted to assist jockeys in weighing out are valets. 

(8) Equipment: 

(a) Helmets: Any licensee mounted on a horse or stable pony on association grounds must wear a 

properly secured safety helmet at all times. The licensee is responsible for providing sufficient evidence 

that his/her helmet meets one of the following safety standards: American Society for Testing and 

Materials (ASTM 1163); UK Standards (EN-1384 and PAS-015; or, Australian/New Zealand Standard 

(AS/NZ 3838). 

(b) Safety Vests: A safety vest, approved for use by the commission, must be worn at all times on 

association grounds when racing, parading or warming up a horse prior to racing; or jogging or exercising 

a horse at any time. 

(c) All riding crops are subject to inspection and approval by the stewards and the clerk of scales. Riding 

crops shall have a shaft and a flap and will be allowed in flat racing including training, only as follows. 

(A) Maximum weight of eight ounces; 

(B) Maximum length, including flap of 30 inches 

(C) Minimum diameter of the shaft of three-eighths inch; and 

(D) Shaft contact area must be smooth, with no protrusions or raised surface, and covered by shock 

absorbing material that gives a compression factor of at least one-millimeter throughout its 

circumference. 



(d) The flap is the only allowable attachment to the shaft and must meet these specifications: 

(A) Length beyond the end of the shaft a maximum of one inch; 

(B) Width a minimum of 0.8 inch and a maximum of 1.6 inches;  

(C) No reinforcements or additions beyond the end of the shaft; 

(D) No binding within seven inches of the end of the shaft; and 

(E) Shock absorbing characteristics similar to those the contact area of the shaft. 

(e) Permission to use or discontinue the use of a tongue restraint must be obtained from the paddock 

judge. Material to be used as a tongue restraint may not be furnished by anyone other than the trainer 

of the horse. Only the trainer or assistant trainer shall be permitted to tie the tongue or replace or repair 

a tongue restraint, except at the starting gate under the supervision of the commission veterinarian. 

(f) Any change in equipment from that which a horse carried in its previous race must be approved by 

the paddock judge. Any change shall be announced or posted for public information. "Rundowns" are 

not considered to be equipment. All bandages in excess of 6 inches in length shall be considered part of 

the horse's equipment. Permission for a horse to add blinkers, screens, or goggles to his equipment or 

discontinue the use of them must be made prior to entry with approval from the starter and noted on 

the entry form. 

(g) The Cornell Collar®, a throat support device which research indicates can assist those horses believed 

to suffer intermittent displacement of the soft palate during running, may be used in horse racing subject 

to the following conditions: 

(A) Prior to a horse being entered to race for the first time with the Cornell Collar® in Oregon, the trainer 

must: 

(i) Submit a letter from a commission licensed veterinarian who has performed an endoscopic throat 

examination of that horse, certifying that the use of the Cornell Collar® is justified and appropriate; and 

(ii) Have the horse, with the Cornell Collar® properly in place, perform one official work in the presence 

of a commission veterinarian. 

(B) A horse that has previously raced in Oregon or another jurisdiction with the Cornell Collar® may enter 

to race with the Cornell Collar®. 

(C) Any trainer of a horse that races with a Cornell Collar® must consult with an commission licensed 

veterinarian to become educated and proficient in the appropriate use and placement of the throat 

support device. 

(D) The use of the Cornell Collar® must be declared at the time of entry of the first race (or any change 

thereafter) a horse races with the Cornell Collar®. 

(E) Once a horse races with the Cornell Collar®; the use of the device must be continued in each 

subsequent race unless the trainer submits a letter from a licensed veterinarian to the commission 

veterinarian stating that the collar is no longer appropriate for the horse. It is at the Commission 



Veterinarian’s discretion to allow a horse to again race with a Cornell Collar® once it has been deemed 

that it is no longer appropriate. 

(F) Only the original Vet-Aire™ Cornell Collar® is approved for use. Any other throat support device must 

be approved for use by the Oregon Racing Commission veterinarian. 

(G) The commission veterinarian may check for proper placement of the Cornell Collar® in the paddock 

and/or post parade. 

(h) Every horse in a race shall have a head number which shall be attached in the junction of the brow 

band, and the head piece of the bridle, unless waived by the stewards for good cause. This number shall 

correspond to the saddle cloth number of the horse as shown on the program. 

(i) Racing silks, caps, and saddle towels shall be the following color, unless a change is approved by the 

stewards: 

(A) No. 1 — Red with White; 

(B) No. 1A — Red with White Bands; 

(C) No. 2 — White with Black; 

(D) No. 2B — White with Black Bands; 

(E) No. 3 — Blue with White; 

(F) No. 4 — Yellow with Black; 

(G) No. 5 — Green with White; 

(H) No. 6 — Black with Yellow; 

(I) No. 7 — Orange with Black; 

(J) No. 8 — Pink with Black; 

(K) No. 9 — Turquoise with Black; 

(L) No. 10 — Purple with White; 

(M) No. 11 — Gray with Red Stripes; 

(N) No. 12 — Lime with Black. 

(j) All jockeys must wear white color pants in any race on which pari-mutuel wagering is conducted, 

unless otherwise approved by the board of stewards. 

(k) Quarter horse distances (yards vs furlongs) rRacing plates must be of a type and design approved by 

the board of stewards and the commission veterinarian. Front toe grabs shall not exceed 2 4 mm. 

(l) For thoroughbred distances (furlongs vs yards), except for full rims 2 millimeters or less from the 

ground surface of the Horseshoe, traction devices are prohibited on forelimb and hindlimb horseshoes 

during racing and training on dirt or synthetic racing tracks.  Traction devices include but are not 

limited to rims, toe grabs, bends, jar calks and stickers. 



(k)Racing plates must be of a type and design approved by the board of stewards and the commission 

veterinarian. No traction devices are allowed on the forelimbs other than mud nails and toe grabs 

measuring 2mm or less.  Toe grabs on the hindlimbs shall not exceed 4mm.  Traction devices include 

but are not limited to bends, jar calks and stickers. 

(l) No training devices, such as iron halters, shall be used to approve a horse from the gate, to be 

schooled from the Starter's List, to get removed from the Paddock List, to work for time, to be removed 

from the Stewards' List or used during the running of a race. 

(9) Paddock: Horses must be in the paddock at least 15 minutes before scheduled post time unless 

otherwise authorized by the stewards. Every horse must be saddled in the paddock by, or supervised by, 

the horse's trainer or assistant trainer as shown in the program unless expressly authorized by the 

stewards, in which case a licensed trainer or assistant trainer approved by the stewards may saddle the 

horse. 

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 462.270(3) 

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 462.270 

 

Reason for rule: Clarifies and updates plate requirements.  

Fiscal impact: None 

Hearing: Yes 

Blue is the update language during comment period.  

 


	April 2024 Meeting Agenda
	March 2024 Meeting Minutes
	ORC Strategic Plan 2024 public
	Replacement HRA 2024 race meet app
	Part 1 hra.pdf
	Part 2 HRA.pdf

	ORC Statement on Slaughter
	462-220-0010 definitions Amendment
	462-150-0060(k) Plates Amendment NOTE Changes in comment period



